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“Simply put, in 
this period of 
extraordinary 

change and 
growth, one 

thing remains 
unchanged.  

The University’s  
decades-long 

commitment to 
solid financial 
planning and 
management 

remains its  
hallmark.” 

I am pleased to share with you Western Michigan University’s 
annual report on the University’s financial performance during the 
2013-14 fiscal year that ended June 30.

The fiscal year covered by this report was a period of incredible 
change for the University. Such change continues into the 
current year and will certainly characterize the years that follow. 
Indeed, many of the changes in 2013-14 were in preparation for a 
transformation that occurred just after the close of the year that 
is analyzed in this report. Our University today is a fundamentally 
different institution than it was a year ago.

Today, as the 2014 year closes, Western Michigan University is an 
internationally renowned public research university with a new 
medical school, a new affiliation with one of the nation’s largest 
private law schools and a national reputation for cutting edge 

work in such areas as sustainability and service to underrepresented 
minorities, students who have aged out of foster care, honors students 
and veterans. 

At Western Michigan University, change is all about opportunity—
expanding opportunity for students, providing new opportunity for 
the communities we serve and adding value to every life we touch. 
Expanding opportunity always requires that we be flexible and agile 
enough to move quickly when new opportunities present themselves, 
and it means carefully managing resources day in and day out so that 
we always operate from a solid financial grounding. 

Such good management and good stewardship allows me to proudly 
share this overall assessment about the University’s financial health 
and its readiness for a future of growth and continued expansion of 
opportunity. 

The University’s financial position remained strong at June 30, 2014,  
with assets of just over $1 billion and liabilities and deferred inflows  
of $681.7 million.

Simply put, in this period of extraordinary change and growth, one thing 
remains unchanged. The University’s decades-long commitment to solid 
financial planning and management remains its hallmark and is providing 
the strong platform that will continue to support opportunity when and 
wherever it presents itself. 

I continue to take enormous pride in the financial health summarized 
by the above statements. Careful planning and thoughtful analysis of 
every initiative is at the heart of that strong financial position. We have 
extended the mantra of careful and thoughtful planning into every 
aspect of the institution’s presence. Opportunity, value and success are 
being enhanced by three pillars of a strategic plan we have embraced 
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“We have  
extended the 
mantra of  
careful and 
thoughtful  
planning into  
every aspect of 
the institution’s 
presence.”

campuswide. Every step we take is focused on the premise that Western 
Michigan University is a public research university that is:

 • Learner centered, 
 • Discovery driven, and 
 • Globally engaged.

Public/private partnerships
Western Michigan University was established in Kalamazoo in 1903 
because members of the local business community came together to 
petition the state to locate a new normal school in their city. As part of 
their petition, they provided a 20-acre hilltop site overlooking the city and 
raised money for the initial building. 

We have celebrated the power of public/private partnerships ever 
since. This year, we have made the commitment to honor our original 
partners by completely restoring that original building—East Hall—and 
bringing the 20-acre site back to daily use. By fall 2015, that mission will 
be accomplished and we will have a new facility that honors both the 
symbolism and results of our first community partnership. 

Western Michigan University Homer Stryker M.D. School  
of Medicine’s focus is innovation
Perhaps no initiative sums up the commitment of WMU and its home 
community to collaboration like the new WMU Homer Stryker M.D. 
School of Medicine. The private medical school at a public university 
opened in fall 2014 after seven years of communitywide work and 
planning. The principals in the initiative are WMU and two world-class 

East Hall, the birthplace of Western Michigan University, is being restored and transformed into an alumni center.



Members of the inaugural class of the WMU Stryker School of Medicine celebrated the school’s opening.
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local teaching hospitals—Borgess Health and Bronson Healthcare. 
While there are three partners in the day-to day operation of the new 
school, private donors made the initiative a reality.

In 2011, we announced an anonymous cash gift of $100 million to support 
the medical school. In spring 2014, we were able to identify the donors 
as Ronda Stryker, granddaughter of medical device innovator Dr. Homer 
Stryker, and her husband William Johnston. To honor their generosity—
and the legacy of Homer Stryker, a WMU alumnus—the new medical 
school has been named for Dr. Stryker. It is, our community believes, the 
best name for a school of medicine anywhere.

Another major element of the new medical school is a spectacular 
state-of-the-art home for the next generation of medical care providers. 
William U. Parfet, the great grandson of pharmaceutical pioneer W.E. 
Upjohn, donated a seven-story 320,000-square-foot research facility for 
that purpose. It has since undergone an expansion and renovation to 
become the medical school’s W.E. Upjohn M.D. Campus. That work was 
completed at the close of the 2013-14 fiscal year—in time to welcome 
the school’s inaugural class this fall.

Both the Stryker and Upjohn names set the stage for discovery and 
entrepreneurial thinking at our young medical school. Moving forward, 
we see tremendous potential for a medical school that nurtures the best 
in education, research and commercialization of life science innovation.

New name is Western Michigan University  
Thomas M. Cooley Law School
The potential and opportunity of offering private graduate education 
through a public university began at WMU with the commitment to 
developing a medical school. But close on its heels was the realization 
that legal education—an important element missing from WMU 
graduate education—could be secured using a similar model. 

The University already had a strong, multi-year relationship with the 
Thomas M. Cooley Law School based in Lansing, Michigan’s capitol. 
Three joint degree programs and a long history of cooperative ventures 
were just the start. The most compelling reasons for pursuing the 
relationship existed as we examined our common commitments to 
opportunity and access. Cooley Law School is among the nation’s 
largest and most diverse private law schools. As the 2013-14 fiscal year 
closed, we completed a two-year process that led to the creation of a 
formal affiliation under the aegis of the law school’s new identity, the 
Western Michigan University Thomas M. Cooley Law School.

Diversity and opportunity are hallmarks of the WMU 
Cooley Law School.

“Both the  
Stryker and  
Upjohn names  
set the stage for  
discovery and  
entrepreneurial 
thinking at our  
young medical 
school.”
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WMU Business Technology and 
Research Park reaches capacity 
Among Western Michigan University’s 
strongest public/private initiatives is its 
15-year-old Business Technology and 
Research Park, which surrounds our  
College of Engineering and Applied 
Sciences. During its brief existence,  
private sector firms in advanced 
engineering, life sciences and information 
technology have enjoyed the ability to be 
part of a campus and develop relationships 
with students early in their college careers. 
The partnerships that have brought 
success to the initiative include the state 
of Michigan, the Michigan Economic 
Development Corp. and the city  
of Kalamazoo.

During the 2013-14 fiscal year, the park achieved full-capacity status, 
with more than 40 companies occupying its 137 acres. 

The decision of Newell Rubbermaid to bring its international global 
design center to our BTR Park was the final piece in park development. 
That firm’s decision to locate at WMU is also reflective of the explosion  
of industrial design initiatives in West Michigan and Newell 
Rubbermaid’s confidence in our University, research faculty and 
students. 

A College of Aviation with a 75-year history
And finally on the topic of broad public/private partnerships, I must 
acknowledge the 75th anniversary this year of WMU’s celebrated 
College of Aviation. Founded in 1939, just 36 years after the Wright 
Brothers’ first flight, the aviation program and the college it became has 
always been closely aligned with industry. 

In 1997, another strong public/private partnership developed to make 
Battle Creek, Michigan’s Kellogg Airport home to the College of Aviation. 
That development happened through the shared commitment of the 
University, the city of Battle Creek, economic development agency 
Battle Creek Unlimited, the W.K. Kellogg Foundation and the federal 
government. The partnerships with community and the industry persist, 
and new ones are in the works.

The opening of Newell Rubbermaid’s international product design  
center marked the moment WMU’s 15-year-old Business Technology  
and Research Park reached its capacity.

“Founded...just 
36 years after the 
Wright Brothers’ 

first flight, the 
aviation program 

and the college 
it became has 

always been 
closely aligned 
with industry.” 
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Cutting-edge aviation education is a 75-year tradition at WMU.

Filling the pipeline with new autism specialists is the 
goal of state funding for WMU’s heralded behavior 
analysis program.

Partnerships in research
In research and discovery, partnerships are incredibly important as 
well. The 2013-14 fiscal year saw several Western Michigan University 
initiatives move forward in important ways. The special research 
resources WMU has been entrusted with also played a role in setting 
the stage for future economic development in our state.

State funding will support autism research,  
professional preparation
The university’s long history in using behavioral analysis to successfully 
treat and develop best practices for families dealing with autism was 
the subject of additional collaboration during the year. A $500,000 grant 
from the Michigan Department of Education was closely followed by 
an announcement that the Michigan Legislature was appropriating $4 
million to the WMU program to help prepare professionals to provide 
services to children with autism and their families. 

With a 30-year history of success in the field and a reputation for 
preparing professionals to use best practices, the new partnership to fill 
the state pipeline with autism specialists was a natural fit. In fact, the 400 
Ph.D. alumni and more than 1,000 master’s level graduates make WMU 
the nation’s largest source of professionals trained and certified to use 
the proven techniques of behavioral analysis for the treatment of autism. 
Already, that new funding has allowed us to expand our geographical 
reach and take our graduate programs into new areas.
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“The incredibly 
rich deposit is  
in easy reach  
of the enormous 
demand from 
Midwest corn 
and soybean 
farmers...”

Rich Michigan potash bed identified by 
WMU geologists.

Agricultural resource lies below 
West Michigan surface
A Michigan natural resource that could 
be worth billions has been rediscovered 
below the West Michigan surface. 
University researchers, working with 
a private-sector company, located 
the high-purity Borgen Bed by using 
the incredible resources entrusted to 
WMU. The Michigan Geologic Survey, 
housed at WMU since 2012, was used 
along with the University’s extensive 
core archive in its Michigan Geological 
Repository for Research and Education. 

The incredibly rich deposit is in easy reach of the enormous demand 
from Midwest corn and soybean farmers who operate within a 500-mile 
radius of this deposit. This is an opportunity for new wealth to come from 
the use of Michigan natural resources never tapped before.

Strategic goals met through partnerships 
One important goal of the Western Michigan University Strategic Plan 
is to “ensure a diverse, inclusive and healthy community.” We’ve been 
accomplishing that through Universitywide collaboration and external 
partnerships that allow us to serve well distinct student populations 
with specific needs. The same type of internal and external partnerships 
allows us to inculcate the principles of sustainability across the campus.

Students who have aged out of foster care succeed
Our Seita Scholars—young people who have aged out of foster 
care—have continued to find success through our program, which is 
the largest and most comprehensive program for such students in the 
nation. Enrollment in the program has consistently been at about 160 
students, and the six-year-old effort has been seeing new graduates at 

every commencement ceremony. A full 25 percent 
of the first cohort have earned degrees, and more 
remain on track to graduate.

Full-tuition scholarships, campus coaching, career 
mentoring and a year-round home in the residence 
halls, even during holiday breaks, are among the 
best practices that have worked. We’ve been 
able to provide that support with the help of state 
agencies, private foundations and individuals, 
and the unwavering commitment of people on our 
campus and in our community.

Some 160 former foster care youth are Seita Scholars.
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WMU has more Iraq and Afghanistan veterans than any other public university in Michigan. 

Veterans choose WMU to prepare for post-military life
Our population of veterans continues to grow and succeed. WMU has 
more veterans of the Iraq and Afghanistan wars than any other public 
university in Michigan. Military Times EDGE magazine has placed WMU 
on its “Best for Vets” list of colleges and universities. With a ranking 
of No. 75 on the most recent list of schools rated, WMU is the only 
Michigan school to have appeared on all five years of the publication’s 
annual list of the top colleges in the United States. In addition, the 
University has housed a VetSuccess on Campus program for southwest 
Michigan since 2012 with two partners—Kalamazoo Valley Community 
College and Kellogg Community College. This was 
the first VetSuccess program the U.S. Veterans 
Administration authorized in Michigan.

International student numbers soar
During the 2013-14 academic year, we saw 
enrollment by international students surge. Our 
international students, who bring so much to 
our campus learning environment, increased in 
number by 7.2 percent. A total of 1,688 students 
from 104 nations came to WMU to study. That is 
the highest number of international students in a 
decade and included an influx of new students 
from such nations as Brazil, the Dominican 
Republic and Saudi Arabia.

Students from 104 nations studied on the Kalamazoo campus in 2013-14.
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One of the nation’s oldest collegiate honors programs, the Lee Honors College has a newly expanded “green” home.  

Sustainability permeates every aspect of campus life
At Western Michigan University, sustainability has become a way of life. 
And 2013-14 was a banner year for that campuswide commitment. 

 • We were able to head into the new academic year with 10  
 LEED-certified buildings and another 10 still in the pipeline. 

 • Student research was supported by some $75,000 in grants  
 provided by a student-initiated sustainability fee.

 • Our Sustainability Across Research and Teaching initiative— 
 StART—provided educational opportunities across the  
 academic enterprise.

 • The national Sustainability Tracking, Assessment & Rating  
 System—STARS—initiative accepted our first report and awarded  
 a “gold” rating for the University’s sustainability performance in  
 academics, engagement on campus and in the community,  
 operations, planning and administration, and innovation.

 • Installation of 975 solar panels on the roof of our beautiful  
 new Sangren Hall provided a 1/4 megawatt annual output that  
 satisfies a good share and at times more than 100 percent of the  
 building’s electrical needs during high peak import times. 

“...sustainability 
has become a  
way of life. And 
2013-14 was a  
banner year for 
that campuswide 
commitment.”
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 • We were honored to receive the 2014 Climate Leadership Award  
 from Second Nature, the support organization of the American  
 College and University Presidents’ Climate Commitment. Just two  
 research universities in the nation received that award, and just  
 one—WMU—also took home the award for producing a top-notch  
 video to document sustainability achievements on campus.

Accolades reflect our mission and goals
The 2013-14 year was one of accolades and achievements that 
acknowledge the quality, opportunity and value found at Western 
Michigan University. 

 • One of our music faculty members, Dr. Stephen M. Wolfinbarger,  
 was named Michigan Professor of the Year by the Carnegie  
 Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching and the Council for the 
 Advancement and Support of Education—CASE—as part of the  
 annual U.S. Professor of the Year Program.

 • Our service-learning efforts, which include more than 1 million  
 hours of annual community service, were honored by being named  
 to the President’s Community Service Honor Roll With Distinction.

 • Our celebrated Integrated Supply Management Program was  
 named among the top five such undergraduate programs in the  
 nation by the industry’s gold standard organization, Gartner.

 • Our commitment to diversity was lauded with the Higher Education 
 Excellence in Diversity—HEED—Award form INSIGHT Into Diversity  
 and a Commitment to Diversity award from Minority Access Inc. 

Sangren Hall’s 975-solar-panel rooftop array generates enough energy for much of the building’s needs. 

Music professor Stephen M. Wolfinbarger was the  
2013-14 Michigan Professor of the Year.
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A goal of the Strategic Plan  is “to ensure a diverse, inclusive and healthy environment.”

My favorite recent assessment of the University’s impact comes from 
Washington Monthly magazine, which assesses universities on the good 
they are doing for students and the nation when it comes to  

 • Producing Ph.Ds. and new knowledge,  
 • Encouraging service, and 
 • Adding value and success to the lives of individual students. 

This is the second time WMU has appeared on Washington Monthly’s 
list of top-100 national universities and its second appearance in the 
magazine’s more recent “best bang for the buck” national university 
category.
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Western Michigan University is a value-added institution. It’s also 
an opportunity university. We roll up our sleeves, and we get the job 
done here. Accomplishing that is made possible by the wise financial 
management that is an important underpinning for our daily work. 

I invite you to learn more about our great University and its place in our 
state, nation and world. We are deeply committed to the wide range of 
audiences we serve and always determined to extend our reach as a 
learner-centered, discovery-driven and globally engaged institution that 
is focused on the future.

Warmest regards,

John M. Dunn 
President  
Western Michigan University
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A Message from the Chief Financial Officer

During the 2013-14 fiscal year, Western Michigan University continued its 
long commitment to the careful management required to build a strong 
financial platform. It is the platform upon which we continue to support 
an academic environment characterized by value and opportunity for 
students. Such value and opportunity are qualities that have long been 
WMU’s hallmarks. During this year of extraordinary change and initiative, 
those qualities have been markedly enhanced in a way that is attracting 
national attention.

The pages that follow include detail on the University’s financial position. 
The report has been reviewed by our external auditor Plante & Moran 
PLLC, and presented to the WMU Board of Trustees. We offer it to the 
community more broadly in the spirit of transparency.  

The attached financial statements and financial indicators reflect both the 
steady progress and the bold initiative that is part of campus life, as WMU 
fulfills the goals of its three-year strategic plan, leverages the public and 
private funds entrusted to it, and embarks on new opportunities that keep 
the academic community and those it serves firmly focused on the future. 
Careful stewardship of resources has allowed us to steadily enhance our 
reputation as a university that is learner centered, discovery driven and 
globally engaged,

Throughout the year, we put the principles of sound accounting and 
thoughtful investment to work in the service of those three pillars that 
encapsulate this university’s mission and identity. Short-term needs and 
challenges are continually balanced against long-term commitments and 
opportunities. This report is offered as an illustration of the sound financial 
status that is the result of the daily efforts devoted to those goals.  

Jan Van Der Kley 
Vice President for Business and Finance 
Western Michigan University
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Secretary
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Patti J. VanWalbeck
Assistant Treasurer

Financial Administration
Thomas L. Comer
Director of Internal Audit

Jeffrey Long
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Colleen Scarff
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Jan Van Der Kley
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Martha B. Warfield
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Trustees 
Western Michigan University

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Western Michigan University, a component unit of the 
State of Michigan, and its discretely presented component units (the “University”) as of and for the years ended 
June 30, 2014 and 2013 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Western 
Michigan University’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  The discretely presented 
component units were not audited under Government Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our  
audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Western Michigan University and its discretely presented component units as of June 30, 2014 and 
2013 and the changes in its financial position and, where applicable, cash flows for the years then ended, in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

Required Supplemental Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although 
not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 
which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in 
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide 
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 29, 2014 on 
our consideration of Western Michigan University’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of 
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering Western Michigan University’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance.

       

September 29, 2014  

(Continued from page 19)
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Western Michigan University

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Western Michigan University 

 3  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis  

The following discussion and analysis of Western Michigan University’s (the “University”) 
financial statements provides an overview of the University’s financial activities for the year 
ended June 30, 2014. Management has prepared the financial statements and the related 
disclosures along with the discussion and analysis. Responsibility for the completeness and 
fairness of this information rests with University management.  

The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching places Western Michigan University 
among the 74 public institutions in the nation designated as research universities with high 
research activity.  Western Michigan University has once again been named one of the Country’s 
top 100 national universities and a “Best Bang for the Buck” school by Washington Monthly.  The 
University is one of four Michigan universities to make the 2014 list, placing 90th on the list of top 
national universities and 54th on the “Best Bang for the Buck” list.  

Financial Highlights  

The University’s financial position remained strong at June 30, 2014, with assets of $1.093 billion 
and liabilities and deferred inflows of $681.7 million. 

The University invests its working capital to maximize total return, with an appropriate level of 
risk. The University’s holdings are invested in short-, intermediate-, and long-term investment 
pool accounts. The investment strategy governing the endowment assets seeks to maximize total 
return over the long run. 

The following chart provides a graphical breakdown of net position by category for the fiscal 
years ended June 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012: 
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Western Michigan University

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Western Michigan University 

 4  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

The University has committed the unrestricted net position to provide for identified future needs. 
These needs include contractual obligations, debt service, student loans, capital outlay, 
insurance reserves, academic programming needs, and other postemployment benefits. 

The University’s financial statements were prepared in accordance with criteria established by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board for determining the various governmental 
organizations to be included in the reporting entity (GASB Statement No. 61). These criteria 
include significant operational or financial relationships. Based on the application of the criteria, 
the University has four component units. The Western Michigan University Foundation, Paper 
Technology Foundation, Inc., Western Michigan University Research Foundation (collectively, the 
“Foundations”), and Western Michigan University School of Medicine’s financial statements are 
discretely presented as part of the University’s reporting entity. The component units’ financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as 
prescribed by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). 

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in 
Net Position 

The University’s financial report includes three financial statements: the statement of net 
position, the statement of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position, and the statement of 
cash flows. 

These financial statements include all assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting, 
which is similar to the accounting used by most private sector institutions. All of the current 
year’s revenue and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
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Western Michigan University

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Western Michigan University 

 5  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

The following is a summary of the major components of the net position and operating results of 
the University for the years ended June 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012: 

Net Position as of June 30 (in millions)
2014 2013 2012

Assets
Current assets 86.3$                 79.4$                 89.7$                 
Noncurrent assets:

Capital assets - Net of depreciation 712.6                 727.8                 707.7                 
Other 294.3               139.6                121.5                

Total assets 1,093.2              946.8                 918.9                 

Liabilities
Current liabilities 111.4                 97.3                    83.5                    
Long-term liabilities 568.9                 452.2                 460.3                 

Total liabilities 680.3                 549.5                 543.8                 

Deferred Inflow - Gain on refunding of bonds payable 1.4                      -                        -                        

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 421.2$               429.5$               406.3$               
Restricted 19.5                    18.3                    18.0                    
Unrestricted (29.2)                  (50.5)                  (49.2)                  

Total net position 411.5$           397.3$           375.1$           
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

The following is a summary of the major components of the net position and operating results of 
the University for the years ended June 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012: 
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2014 2013 2012
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Current assets 86.3$                 79.4$                 89.7$                 
Noncurrent assets:

Capital assets - Net of depreciation 712.6                 727.8                 707.7                 
Other 294.3               139.6                121.5                

Total assets 1,093.2              946.8                 918.9                 

Liabilities
Current liabilities 111.4                 97.3                    83.5                    
Long-term liabilities 568.9                 452.2                 460.3                 

Total liabilities 680.3                 549.5                 543.8                 

Deferred Inflow - Gain on refunding of bonds payable 1.4                      -                        -                        

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 421.2$               429.5$               406.3$               
Restricted 19.5                    18.3                    18.0                    
Unrestricted (29.2)                  (50.5)                  (49.2)                  

Total net position 411.5$           397.3$           375.1$           
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Operating Results for the Years Ended June 30 (in millions)

2014 2013 2012

Operating Revenue
Tuition and fees - Net 232.8$              223.2$               219.8$              
Grants and contracts 23.5                  24.3                   28.2                   
Auxiliary activities - Net 85.5                  94.9                   95.7                   

 Other 40.1                  42.7                   37.6                   

Total operating revenue 381.9                 385.1                 381.3                 

Operating Expenses
Instruction 168.2               158.9                155.9                
Departmental research 19.0                  19.5                   23.0                   
Public service 11.7                  11.2                   11.3                   
Academic support 50.9                  50.6                   48.8                   
Student services 27.2                  25.8                   24.3                   
Institutional support 41.0                  47.5                   39.0                   
Operations and maintenance of plant 37.4                  36.3                   38.3                   
Scholarships and fellowships 38.6                  33.6                   34.9                   
Auxiliary activities 74.1                  86.0                   92.0                   
Depreciation 26.4                  26.7                   25.3                   

 Other expenditures 7.9                      14.9                    3.2                      

Total operating expenses 502.4                 511.0                 496.0                 

Net Operating Loss (120.5)                (125.9)                (114.7)                

Nonoperating Revenue (Expense)
State appropriations 97.3                  95.5                   93.2                   
Gifts 43.3                  43.4                   14.9                   

 Other net nonoperating (expense) revenue (13.5)                (5.6)                    8.7                     

Total nonoperating revenue 127.1                 133.3                 116.8                 

Other
Capital appropriations 0.3                    12.8                   16.8                   

 Capital grants, contracts, and other 7.3                    2.0                     22.4                   

Total other 7.6                      14.8                    39.2                    

Increase in Net Position 14.2                    22.2                    41.3                    

Net Position - Beginning of year 397.3                 375.1                 333.8                 

Net Position - End of year 411.5$           397.3$           375.1$           
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Operating Revenue 

Operating revenue includes all transactions that result in the sales and/or receipts from goods 
and services such as tuition and fees, housing, and dining operations. In addition, certain federal, 
state, and private grants are considered operating if they are not for capital purposes and are 
considered a contract for services.  

Student tuition and fees revenue increased as a result of the board of trustees raising the rates 
by 3.75 percent for resident undergraduate students. For resident undergraduate students 
enrolled in 30 credit hours during an academic year, this increase equates to an additional $373 of 
tuition and fees. Room and meal plan rates increased 3.25 percent. This equates to an additional 
$267 for the academic year for a 15-meal plan. Students already living in the residence halls are 
not subject to an increase. Student tuition and fees revenue increased in fiscal year 2013 
compared to fiscal year 2012 as a result of the board of trustees raising the rates by 3.91 percent 
for resident undergraduate students. 

Auxiliary activities revenue decreased by $9.4 million from 2013. In April 2013, the University 
outsourced its bookstore operations to a third party resulting in a decrease of bookstore sale 
revenue of $12.3 million. Conversely, student affair’s revenues increased by $2.5 million. 

The following is a graphic illustration of operating revenue by source: 

Auxiliary 
Activities

22%
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11%Grants and 

Contracts
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Operating Expenses 

Operating expenses are all the costs necessary to perform and conduct the programs and 
primary purposes of the University. Operating expenses were significantly impacted by increases 
in the costs of compensation, student financial aid, and academic programming. Other 
expenditures decreased $7.0 million from fiscal year 2013. This decrease was primarily due to a 
decrease in project expenses that were not capitalized of $2.7 million, a decrease in amortization 
expense of bond issuance costs in implementing GASB Statement No. 65 in 2013 of $2.5 million, 
and a decrease in asset retirements of $.6 million. Auxiliary activities decreased by $11.9 million 
from 2013.  In April 2013, the University outsourced its bookstore operations to a third party 
resulting in a decrease of bookstore expenses of $12.3 million. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

The University is committed to providing financial support to students and is currently developing 
a strategic plan to award more dollars to students in a more efficient and strategic way. The 
University has long sponsored its prestigious Medallion Scholarship program, which attracts 
some of the brightest and most promising students. The University also offers several other merit-
based awards including the Presidential and Provost Scholarships. 

The following is a graphic illustration of operating expenses by source: 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Nonoperating Revenue and Expenses 

Nonoperating revenue and expenses are primarily nonexchange in nature. They would consist 
primarily of state appropriations and investment income (including realized and unrealized gains 
and losses), and grants and contracts that do not require any services to be performed. 

Nonoperating revenue and expenses were significantly impacted by the following factors: 

 The state appropriation revenue increased $1.8 million or 1.9 percent from fiscal year 2013. 
The state appropriation for fiscal year 2013 increased $2.3 million or 2.5 percent and for fiscal 
year 2012 it decreased $16.4 million.   

 Investment income increased from the prior year by approximately $4.5 million. This is a result 
of an increase in unrealized gain from the prior year in the amount of $9.5 million, and a 
decrease in realized gain from the prior year in the amount of $5.0 million.  

 Other nonoperating expense for 2014 includes transfers of $27.5 million in gifts to Western 
Michigan University for the benefit of the Western Michigan University School of Medicine 
(WMed). Gift transfers during fiscal year 2014 include $6.5 million in gifts transferred directly 
to WMed. In addition a total of $21 million was transferred to the Western Michigan University 
Foundation WMed quasi-endowment. The WMed quasi-endowment was established for gifts 
to Western Michigan University for the benefit of WMed.  

 Upon receiving a donated building and recognizing $20.1 million in gift income during 2012, the 
University in turn leased a portion of the building in 2014 to WMed resulting in a loss on the 
capital lease transaction of $15.3 million, which is recorded in other nonoperating expense for 
2014.  

Other  

Other activity consists of items that are typically nonrecurring, extraordinary, or unusual to the 
University. An example would be capital appropriations from the state or federal government and 
transfers from related entities. 

Other activity was significantly impacted by the following: 

Capital grants, contracts, and other revenue totaled $7.3 million in 2014, $2.0 million in 2013, and 
$22.4 million in 2012. During fiscal year 2014 the University received a donation for a new archives 
facility in the amount of $4.2 million and during 2012 the University received a donated building 
valued at $20.1 million.  

State capital appropriations for the new College of Education and Human Development facility 
were $.3 million in 2014, $12.8 million in 2013, and $16.8 million in 2012.  
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Another way to assess the financial health of the University is to look at the statement of cash 
flows. Its primary purpose is to provide relevant information about the cash receipts and cash 
payments of an entity during a period. The statement of cash flows also helps users assess the 
following: 

 An entity’s ability to generate future net cash flows 
 Its ability to meet obligations as they come due 
 Its needs for external financing 

Cash Flows for the Years Ended June 30 (in millions)

2014 2013 2012
Cash (Used in) Provided by

Operating activities (81.8)$               (85.2)$                (92.7)$               
Noncapital financing activities 144.9               134.5                135.0                
Capital and related financing activities (40.3)                (47.7)                 (46.5)                 
Investing activities (13.7)                0.5                     1.2                     

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash 9.1                    2.1                     (3.0)                    
 

Cash - Beginning of year 35.6                  33.5                   36.5                   

Cash - End of year 44.7$           35.6$            33.5$           

 
The most significant components of cash flows provided from operating activities are tuition and 
fees, auxiliary activities, and grants and contracts. The most significant components of cash 
flows used in operations are payments to suppliers and employees. Net cash used in operating 
activities was $81.8 million. This is compared to net cash used in operating activities in the 
amounts of $85.2 million and $92.7 million for the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively. To offset the $81.8 million operating use, the net cash provided from noncapital 
financing activities, which consisted primarily of state appropriations, was $144.9 million. Net 
cash provided by noncapital financing activities was $134.5 million and $135.0 million for the years 
ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Cash used in capital and related financing activities 
totaled $40.3 million, primarily the result of capital additions during the year in the amount of $71.6 
million, interest paid on capital debt in the amount of $16.1 million, and net cash proceeds from 
debt instruments and capital gifts of $69.4 million. Cash used in investing activities was $13.7 
million. This is compared to cash provided by investing activities of $.5 million and $1.2 million for 
the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Capital Assets 

At June 30, 2014, the University had $1.2 billion invested in capital assets and accumulated 
depreciation of $482.2 million. Depreciation charges totaled $26.4 million, $26.8 million, and $25.3 
million for the years ended June 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. Details of these amounts 
are below: 

2014 2013 2012

Land, land improvements, and infrastructure 89,985,834$             86,517,749$             79,709,353$             
Buildings and improvements 903,337,336             900,219,220             838,660,997             
Buildings under capital lease 20,796,391               10,578,574               10,578,574               
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 69,013,636               66,977,890               66,350,297               
Library collections 88,485,260               86,738,762               85,113,945               
Construction in progress 23,176,132               38,705,819               71,037,374               

Total 1,194,794,589$    1,189,738,014$    1,151,450,540$    
 

The University completed a significant project during fiscal year 2013, Sangren Hall, which 
houses the College of Education and Human Development.  The Sangren Hall building replaces a 
45-year old, most heavily used classroom building on campus.  The new 231,000 square-foot 
building creates learning environments that meet and exceed the requirements for today’s 
academic teaching standards.  This building was financed with bond proceeds and state capital 
appropriations. 
 
The University substantially completed a significant project during fiscal year 2014, the renovation 
of a building located in downtown Kalamazoo that was donated to the University during fiscal 
year 2012. This building houses the Western Michigan University School of Medicine. The 
medical school’s inaugural class of 54 students will begin their studies in August of 2014. The 
University is leasing the building to WMed and it has been accounted for as a capital lease.  
 
The University also completed construction of an archives facility during fiscal year 2014. The 
Zhang Legacy Collections Center is a state-of-the-art and climate-controlled facility that houses 
the WMU Archives and Regional History Collections which include the University’s papers, files, 
and history along with regional tax rolls, diaries, Civil War letters, maps, and photographs. It is the 
largest facility of its type in southwest Michigan and one of the largest in the state. 
 
These projects were financed with bond proceeds and private gifts. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Capital Assets 

At June 30, 2014, the University had $1.2 billion invested in capital assets and accumulated 
depreciation of $482.2 million. Depreciation charges totaled $26.4 million, $26.8 million, and $25.3 
million for the years ended June 30, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. Details of these amounts 
are below: 

2014 2013 2012

Land, land improvements, and infrastructure 89,985,834$             86,517,749$             79,709,353$             
Buildings and improvements 903,337,336             900,219,220             838,660,997             
Buildings under capital lease 20,796,391               10,578,574               10,578,574               
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 69,013,636               66,977,890               66,350,297               
Library collections 88,485,260               86,738,762               85,113,945               
Construction in progress 23,176,132               38,705,819               71,037,374               

Total 1,194,794,589$    1,189,738,014$    1,151,450,540$    
 

The University completed a significant project during fiscal year 2013, Sangren Hall, which 
houses the College of Education and Human Development.  The Sangren Hall building replaces a 
45-year old, most heavily used classroom building on campus.  The new 231,000 square-foot 
building creates learning environments that meet and exceed the requirements for today’s 
academic teaching standards.  This building was financed with bond proceeds and state capital 
appropriations. 
 
The University substantially completed a significant project during fiscal year 2014, the renovation 
of a building located in downtown Kalamazoo that was donated to the University during fiscal 
year 2012. This building houses the Western Michigan University School of Medicine. The 
medical school’s inaugural class of 54 students will begin their studies in August of 2014. The 
University is leasing the building to WMed and it has been accounted for as a capital lease.  
 
The University also completed construction of an archives facility during fiscal year 2014. The 
Zhang Legacy Collections Center is a state-of-the-art and climate-controlled facility that houses 
the WMU Archives and Regional History Collections which include the University’s papers, files, 
and history along with regional tax rolls, diaries, Civil War letters, maps, and photographs. It is the 
largest facility of its type in southwest Michigan and one of the largest in the state. 
 
These projects were financed with bond proceeds and private gifts. 
 
 

 



30   Financial Report

Western Michigan University

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Western Michigan University 

 12  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Debt 

At June 30, 2014, the University had $390.6 million in bonded debt obligations outstanding versus 
$289.9 million the previous year, an increase of 34.7 percent. At June 30, 2013, the bonded debt 
obligations had decreased 4.0 percent, from a balance of $301.9 million at June 30, 2012.  
 
The University issued $93.3 million of general revenue and refunding bonds, rated A1, during 
fiscal year 2014 to advance refund prior bonds and pay for costs for new construction projects. 
The University also issued $69.0 million of lease rental revenue bonds to finance the renovation of 
the building that houses the Homer Stryker M.D. School of Medicine. A total of $47.5 million was 
outstanding on the lease rental revenue bonds at June 30, 2014. 
 
The University has partnered with Borgess Health and Bronson Healthcare to form the Western 
Michigan University School of Medicine (WMed). WMed is a private 501(c)(3) nonprofit 
corporation supported by private gifts, clinical revenue, research activity, tuition from students, 
and endowment income.    
 
The University entered into a lease agreement with WMed during fiscal year 2014. Under the 
terms of the lease agreement, WMed agrees to pay the University lease rental payments which at 
a minimum will be established in amounts sufficient to pay the principal and interest on the lease 
rental revenue bonds issued to fund the renovation cost of the donated building. WMed will be 
responsible for the maintenance, utilities, and other costs of the facility as outlined in the terms of 
the lease. 
 
The University obtained a $30 million secured line of credit on March 15, 2013 to provide bridge 
financing for project costs related to the renovation of the building. The balance due on this line 
was $6.7 million at June 30, 2013. During fiscal year 2014, an additional $7.2 million was drawn 
against the line of credit. The balance of $13.9 million was repaid in full prior to June 30, 2014. 

 
Other Information  

The board of trustees approved an affiliation agreement between the University and the Thomas 
M. Cooley Law School (Cooley). Cooley will remain an independent nonprofit corporation under 
the affiliation agreement but will be renamed the Western Michigan University Thomas M. Cooley 
Law School. The affiliation was approved by the American Bar Association and the Higher 
Learning Commission in August of 2014. Some of the collaborative opportunities that have been 
discussed between the University and Cooley include a “3+3 program” allowing students to 
complete their bachelor’s and law degrees in just six years; interdisciplinary teaching and 
research opportunities for faculty; and additional joint course offerings in areas that might focus 
on the legal environment for business, education, health care, or intellectual property. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Economic Factors That Will Affect the Future 

Acting in its July meeting, the Western Michigan University board of trustees adopted a 
$378.0 million General Fund operating budget for the 2014-2015 year, as well as a tuition and fees 
rate increase. 

The new budget reflects that the University’s state appropriation for the 2014-2015 year is 
expected to be $102.7 million. Tuition and fees for resident undergraduate students will increase 
3.19 percent. Additional revenue from this rate increase, as well as enrollment changes, will 
result in a projected net revenue increase of $5.8 million for the 2014-2015 year. Budgeted 
expenses have increased for compensation, utilities, financial aid, debt service, and Extended 
University Programs program support. 

Western Michigan University’s tuition cost ranks ninth among the state’s 15 public universities, 
even though it is one of Michigan’s four largest, most complex, and highly regarded research 
institutions. The University continues to offer exceptional value to its students.     
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Statement of Net Position 

2014 2013

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) 44,740,627$         35,576,324$         
Short-term investments (Note 2) 148,685                1,269,555             
Accounts receivable - Net (Note 3) 36,159,403          36,334,807           
Inventories 2,671,224            2,546,549             
Deposits, prepaid expenses, and other assets 2,609,314              3,665,966              

Total current assets 86,329,253            79,393,201            

Long-term Investments (Note 2) 216,063,035        130,326,160          

Student Loans Receivable - Net (Note 3) 8,960,158            9,165,970             

Capital Lease Receivable (Note 4) 68,950,000          -                            

Other Assets 232,850                 109,251                 

Capital Assets - Net (Note 5) 712,637,125          727,761,341          

Total assets 1,093,172,421       946,755,923          

Current Liabilities
Line of credit (Note 7) -                             6,655,558              
Current portion of debt obligations (Note 6) 19,861,079 19,105,844
Accounts payable 24,442,089 21,295,341
Due to depositors 956,036 656,447
Accrued payroll and withholdings 25,416,912 22,992,946
Insurance and other claims payable (Note 8) 6,395,556 6,556,759
Tuition and fees received in advance 6,445,210 7,827,838
Other liabilities 27,863,648            12,166,786            

Total current liabilities 111,380,530        97,257,519           

Long-term Obligations - Net of current portion (Note 6) 568,880,367        452,167,000          

Total liabilities 680,260,897          549,424,519          

Deferred Inflows of Resources - Gain on refunding of bonds payable 1,419,381            -                            

Net Position
Unrestricted (29,175,573)           (50,487,805)           
Restricted for:

Expendable 2,327,580              1,830,684              
Loans 8,952,954              9,097,789              
Other  8,225,520              7,432,430              

Net investment in capital assets 421,161,662          429,458,306          

Total net position 411,492,143$        397,331,404$        

June 30
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Tuition and fees received in advance 6,445,210 7,827,838
Other liabilities 27,863,648            12,166,786            

Total current liabilities 111,380,530        97,257,519           

Long-term Obligations - Net of current portion (Note 6) 568,880,367        452,167,000          

Total liabilities 680,260,897          549,424,519          

Deferred Inflows of Resources - Gain on refunding of bonds payable 1,419,381            -                            

Net Position
Unrestricted (29,175,573)           (50,487,805)           
Restricted for:

Expendable 2,327,580              1,830,684              
Loans 8,952,954              9,097,789              
Other  8,225,520              7,432,430              

Net investment in capital assets 421,161,662          429,458,306          

Total net position 411,492,143$        397,331,404$        

June 30
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Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

2014 2013
Operating Revenue

Tuition and fees 278,579,863$            271,531,489$            
Scholarship allowance (45,823,975)               (48,327,233)               

Net tuition and fees 232,755,888            223,204,256             

Governmental grants and contracts 16,407,706                17,078,725                
Other grants and contracts 7,080,284                 7,194,368                 
Departmental and other educational activities 31,760,151                34,827,444                

Auxiliary activities 94,943,134                104,813,905              
Scholarship allowance (9,385,633)                (9,898,349)                

Net auxiliary activities 85,557,501                94,915,556                

Other revenue 8,359,471               7,834,443                

Total operating revenue 381,921,001              385,054,792              

Operating Expenses
Instruction 168,192,928              158,902,393              
Departmental research 18,997,041                19,502,342                
Public service 11,761,622                11,164,667                
Academic support 50,916,613                50,560,305                
Student services 27,219,693                25,778,690                
Institutional support 40,967,914                47,479,823                
Operations and maintenance of plant 37,407,035                36,330,911                
Scholarships and fellowships 38,582,971                33,650,567                
Auxiliary activities 74,114,120                85,944,298                
Depreciation 26,441,053                26,754,140                
Other expenditures 7,886,894                 14,861,513                

Total operating expenses 502,487,884            510,929,649             

Net Operating Loss (120,566,883)             (125,874,857)             

Nonoperating Revenue (Expenses)
State appropriations 97,279,000                95,487,500                
Gifts 43,335,400                43,396,890                
Pell grant revenue 29,329,359                29,458,374                
Other expense (42,841,434)               (32,680,370)               
Investment income and other interest 16,513,167                12,028,157                
Interest on capital asset-related debt (16,471,850)               (14,307,708)               

Net nonoperating revenue 127,143,642            133,382,843             

Income - Before other 6,576,759               7,507,986                

Other
State capital appropriations 322,051                    12,764,937                
Other revenue and capital gifts and grants 7,261,929                 2,002,926                 

Total other 7,583,980               14,767,863               

Increase in Net Position 14,160,739                22,275,849                

Net Position
Beginning of year 397,331,404            375,055,555             

End of year 411,492,143$       397,331,404$        

Year Ended June 30
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Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

2014 2013
Operating Revenue
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Other
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Statement of Cash Flows 

2014 2013
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Tuition and fees 275,566,157$        274,196,655$        
Grants and contracts 22,496,707            24,616,964            
Payments to suppliers (197,150,795)         (218,869,856)         
Payments to employees (319,789,950)         (309,279,211)         
Loans issued to students (1,608,047)             (1,550,691)             
Collection of loans from students 1,813,859              1,551,899              
Student loan interest 99,179                   117,918                 
Auxiliary enterprise charges 94,822,321            104,682,514          
Departmental and other 41,995,532            39,319,485            

Net cash used in operating activities (81,755,037)           (85,214,323)           

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities   
Private gifts for annuity purposes 39,261                   38,036                   
Gifts and contributions for other than capital purposes 43,296,139            43,395,689            
William D. Ford direct lending receipts 130,105,391          137,363,538          
William D. Ford direct lending disbursements (130,105,391)         (137,363,538)         
PLUS loan receipts 25,767,277            24,869,734            
PLUS loan disbursements (25,767,277)           (24,869,734)           
Pell grant revenue 29,329,359            29,451,722            
Agency transactions 2,813,839              (763,638)                
Other (27,495,397)           (32,680,370)           
State appropriations 96,943,274            95,065,826            

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 144,926,475          134,507,265          

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Purchase of capital assets (71,619,142)           (52,378,917)           
Proceeds net of deposits from disposal of assets 159,168                 170,432                 
Proceeds from issuance of debt 140,814,696          -                             
Principal paid on capital debt (41,038,854)           (12,958,097)           
Capital grant, gift, and other proceeds 7,261,929              2,002,926              
Capital appropriations 1,368,802              19,967,068            
(Deposits to) withdrawals from trustee to purchase capital assets (54,475,639)           3,162,516              
(Decrease) increase in line of credit (6,655,558)             6,655,558              
Interest paid on capital debt (16,096,159)           (14,367,155)           

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (40,280,757)           (47,745,669)           

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 4,349,732              44,882,440            
Interest on investments 3,923,741              3,953,645              
Purchase of investments (21,999,851)           (48,307,483)           

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (13,726,378)           528,602                 

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 9,164,303              2,075,875              

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year 35,576,324            33,500,449            

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year 44,740,627$          35,576,324$          

Year Ended June 30
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Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) 

2014 2013
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash from Operating

 Activities
Operating loss (120,566,883)$       (125,874,857)$       
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash 

from operating activities:
Depreciation 26,441,053            26,754,140            
Amortization of bond issuance costs (648,195)                1,881,842              
Disposal/Adjustments of fixed assets -                             184,031                 
(Increase) decrease in assets:   

Federal and state grants receivable (991,283)                968,103                 
Accounts receivable - Net (809,034)                1,636,690              
Inventories (124,675)                2,992,839              
Prepaid assets and other current assets 933,053                 (1,526,041)             
Loans to students 205,812                 1,208                     

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable 2,339,031              (228,214)                
Accrued payroll and other compensation 2,423,966              821,444                 
Other liabilities 10,424,746            5,026,629              
Unearned tuition and fees (1,382,628)             2,147,863              

Net cash used in operating activities (81,755,037)$         (85,214,323)$         

Year Ended June 30
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Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) 

2014 2013
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash from Operating

 Activities
Operating loss (120,566,883)$       (125,874,857)$       
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash 
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(Increase) decrease in assets:   

Federal and state grants receivable (991,283)                968,103                 
Accounts receivable - Net (809,034)                1,636,690              
Inventories (124,675)                2,992,839              
Prepaid assets and other current assets 933,053                 (1,526,041)             
Loans to students 205,812                 1,208                     

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable 2,339,031              (228,214)                
Accrued payroll and other compensation 2,423,966              821,444                 
Other liabilities 10,424,746            5,026,629              
Unearned tuition and fees (1,382,628)             2,147,863              

Net cash used in operating activities (81,755,037)$         (85,214,323)$         

Year Ended June 30
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Balance Sheet

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Assets (as restated)
Cash and short-term investments 14,390,596$                     20,861,818$                    1,045,360$                     588,652$                     2,494,411$                  2,532,890$                   408,287$                      378,877$                     
Investments (Note 2) 307,095,342                     247,419,859                    4,211,859                      2,406,065                   4,099,452                   4,085,485                    6,012,213                     5,599,031                   
Pledges receivable - Net (Note 3) 85,803,451                       93,188,860                      325,000                         672,400                      -                                 -                                  74,728                          2,615                          
Cash surrender value of life

insurance policies 1,430,018                         1,286,310                        -                                     -                                 -                                 -                                  -                                   -                                 
Other receivable 115,641                            282,666                           1,267,739                      1,283,400                   4,257,399                   2,679,484                    -                                   -                                 
Other assets -                                        -                                      1,378,562                      728,979                      -                                 -                                  -                                   -                                 
Land, land contracts, and other 

property 2,656,569                         6,085,883                         93,379,026                      5,844,353                     -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   

Total assets 411,491,617$                369,125,396$               101,607,546$              11,523,849$             10,851,262$             9,297,859$                6,495,228$                5,980,523$               

Liabilities 
      Accounts payable 260$                                 3,614$                             1,281,751$                     1,211,910$                  33,030$                       42,779$                        48$                               455$                            
      Oustanding checks in excess of cash -                                        -                                       358,437                           364,228                        -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   
      Deposits held in escrow 100,000                            100,000                           -                                     -                                 -                                 -                                  -                                   -                                 
      Debt -                                        -                                      -                                     94,185                        -                                 -                                  -                                   -                                 
      Accrued payroll, withholdings, and 

other -                                        -                                      2,264,714                      1,321,586                   10,010                        9,111                           -                                   -                                 
     Capital lease obligation -                                        -                                      68,950,000                    -                                 -                                 -                                  -                                   -                                 
     Deferred compensation -                                        -                                       3,939,553                        2,406,065                     -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   

Total liabilities 100,260                            103,614                            76,794,455                      5,397,974                     43,040                          51,890                          48                                 455                               

Net Assets
Unrestricted 193,995,562                     152,027,952                    6,413,831                      5,191,606                   10,808,222                 9,245,969                    1,640,505                     1,526,628                   
Temporarily restricted 147,897,921                     148,458,074                    18,064,960                    770,262                      -                                 -                                  3,006,647                     2,671,916                   

Permanently restricted 69,497,874                       68,535,756                      334,300                         164,007                      -                                 -                                  1,848,028                     1,781,524                   

Total net assets 411,391,357                     369,021,782                    24,813,091                    6,125,875                   10,808,222                 9,245,969                    6,495,180                     5,980,068                   

Total liabilities and net assets 411,491,617$                369,125,396$               101,607,546$               11,523,849$              10,851,262$              9,297,859$                6,495,228$                5,980,523$                

Statement of Activities and   
Changes in Net Assets

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Revenue Gains, Losses, and Other (as restated)
Support

Gifts, contributions, and other 35,066,165$                     38,499,788$                    24,712,223$                   3,791,211$                  -   $                             -   $                              289,533$                      163,666$                     
Investment income 6,207,832                         6,604,964                        -                                     -                                 1,851,483                   74,404                         118,555                        152,843                      
Contracted services and support -                                        -                                      36,907,670                    33,993,726                 -                                 -                                  -                                   -                                 
Patient service revenue -                                        -                                      9,194,607                      9,629,638                   -                                 -                                  -                                   -                                 

Governmental grants and contracts -                                        -                                       3,190,246                        2,517,265                     1,930,000                     -                                   -                                   -                                   
Other income -                                        -                                      -                                     -                                 193,780                      211,082                       -                                   -                                 
Net gain from security and

other investment transactions 28,499,363                       21,965,980                      -                                     -                                 -                                 -                                  678,763                        545,127                      
Net transfers from Western

Michigan University Research 
Foundation -                                        781,638                            -                                       -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   

Net transfers from Western
Michigan University 30,938,960                       41,277,101                       444,800                           716,520                        94,072                          137,166                        62,417                          132,958                        

Total revenue gains, losses,
and other support 100,712,320                     109,129,471                     74,449,546                      50,648,360                   4,069,335                     422,652                        1,149,268                     994,594                        

Expenditures and Distributions
Program services 106,860                            169,081                           48,150,742                    43,842,329                 -                                 -                                  129,225                        71,484                        
Management and general 309,354                            206,325                           7,611,588                      6,776,329                   2,507,082                   1,109,814                    53,416                          71,120                        

Fundraising 3,363,842                         3,889,839                         -                                       -                                   -                                   -                                   114,428                        137,985                        

Total expenditures 3,780,056                         4,265,245                         55,762,330                      50,618,658                   2,507,082                     1,109,814                     297,069                        280,589                        

Distributions 54,562,689                       51,002,722                       -                                       -                                   -                                   781,638                        337,087                        189,304                        

Total expenditures and     
distributions 58,342,745                       55,267,967                       55,762,330                      50,618,658                   2,507,082                     1,891,452                     634,156                        469,893                        

Change in Net Assets 42,369,575                       53,861,504                      18,687,216                    29,702                        1,562,253                   (1,468,800)                  515,112                        524,701                      

Net Assets - Beginning of year 369,021,782                     315,160,278                     6,125,875                        6,096,173                     9,245,969                     10,985,786                   5,980,068                     5,455,367                     

Net Assets - End of year as previously stated 411,391,357$                369,021,782$               24,813,091$                 6,125,875$                10,808,222$              9,516,986$                6,495,180$                5,980,068$                

Prior Period Adjustment -                                        -                                      -                                     -                                 -                                 (271,017)                     -                                   -                                 

Net Assets - End of year as restated 411,391,357$                369,021,782$               24,813,091$                 6,125,875$                10,808,222$              9,245,969$                6,495,180$                5,980,068$                

Year Ended June 30 Year Ended June 30Year Ended June 30 Year Ended June 30

Western Michigan Paper Technology
University Foundation Foundation, Inc.

June 30 June 30June 30

Western Michigan University
Research Foundation

Western Michigan University
School of Medicine

June 30
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Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation 

The financial statements of Western Michigan University (the “University”) have been 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The University follows the “business-
type” activities reporting requirements of GASB Statement No. 34.  

The financial statements of the University have been prepared on the accrual basis, 
whereby all revenue is recorded when earned and all expenses are recorded when they 
have been reduced to a legal or contractual obligation to pay.  

GASB Statement No. 34 establishes standards for external financial reporting for public 
colleges and universities and requires that resources be classified for accounting and 
reporting purposes into the following categories: 

 Net investment in Capital Assets - Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 
and outstanding principal balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, 
or improvement of those assets 

 Restricted - Net assets subject to externally imposed constraints such that they may be 
maintained permanently by the University, or net assets whose use by the University is 
subject to externally imposed constraints that can be fulfilled by actions of the University 
pursuant to those constraints or that expire by the passage of time. 

 Unrestricted - Net assets that are not subject to externally imposed constraints. 
Unrestricted net assets may be designated for specific purposes by action of 
management or the board of trustees (the “Board”) or may otherwise be limited by 
contractual agreements with outside parties. 

These statements have also been prepared in accordance with criteria established by the 
GASB for determining the various governmental organizations to be included in the 
reporting entity (GASB Statement No. 61). These criteria include significant operational or 
financial relationships with the University. Based on application of the criteria, the 
University has four component units. The adoption of GASB Statement No. 61 did not have 
any impact on the University’s financial statements.  

Western Michigan University 
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Basis of Presentation 
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GASB for determining the various governmental organizations to be included in the 
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University has four component units. The adoption of GASB Statement No. 61 did not have 
any impact on the University’s financial statements.  
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Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Component Unit - Western Michigan University is an institution of higher education located 
in Kalamazoo, Michigan, and is considered to be a component unit of the State of Michigan 
(the “State”) because its board of trustees is appointed by the governor of the State of 
Michigan. Accordingly, the University is included in the State’s financial statements as a 
discrete component unit. Transactions with the State of Michigan relate primarily to 
appropriations for operations, grants from various state agencies, and payments to state 
retirement programs for the benefit of University employees. 

Component Units of the University - Western Michigan University Foundation, Paper 
Technology Foundation, Inc., Western Michigan University Research Foundation, and 
Western Michigan University School of Medicine (WMed) statements are discretely 
presented as part of the University’s reporting entity. These financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and have not been modified for GASB. The 
officers of Western Michigan University Foundation and Paper Technology Foundation, Inc. 
include certain University administrative officials, but the University does not have 
controlling interest in those foundations’ boards. The University does have controlling 
interest in Western Michigan University Research Foundation and WMed. The Internal 
Revenue Service has determined that the component units are tax-exempt under Section 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.  

Western Michigan University Foundation operates exclusively for the benefit of Western 
Michigan University. The foundation provides support for the objectives, goals, and mission 
of the University. The foundation assists in accomplishing the educational purposes of the 
University. 

Paper Technology Foundation, Inc. was established to aid and promote, by financial 
assistance and guidance, education and research in paper technology and related areas at 
Western Michigan University. The University has paid certain expenses of Paper 
Technology Foundation, Inc. 

Western Michigan University Research Foundation operates for the benefit of Western 
Michigan University to promote, encourage, and aid scientific investigation and research as 
well as commercialization endeavors. The University has paid certain expenses of Western 
Michigan University Research Foundation. 

Western Michigan University 
Notes to Financial Statements 
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Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Component Unit - Western Michigan University is an institution of higher education located 
in Kalamazoo, Michigan, and is considered to be a component unit of the State of Michigan 
(the “State”) because its board of trustees is appointed by the governor of the State of 
Michigan. Accordingly, the University is included in the State’s financial statements as a 
discrete component unit. Transactions with the State of Michigan relate primarily to 
appropriations for operations, grants from various state agencies, and payments to state 
retirement programs for the benefit of University employees. 

Component Units of the University - Western Michigan University Foundation, Paper 
Technology Foundation, Inc., Western Michigan University Research Foundation, and 
Western Michigan University School of Medicine (WMed) statements are discretely 
presented as part of the University’s reporting entity. These financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and have not been modified for GASB. The 
officers of Western Michigan University Foundation and Paper Technology Foundation, Inc. 
include certain University administrative officials, but the University does not have 
controlling interest in those foundations’ boards. The University does have controlling 
interest in Western Michigan University Research Foundation and WMed. The Internal 
Revenue Service has determined that the component units are tax-exempt under Section 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.  

Western Michigan University Foundation operates exclusively for the benefit of Western 
Michigan University. The foundation provides support for the objectives, goals, and mission 
of the University. The foundation assists in accomplishing the educational purposes of the 
University. 

Paper Technology Foundation, Inc. was established to aid and promote, by financial 
assistance and guidance, education and research in paper technology and related areas at 
Western Michigan University. The University has paid certain expenses of Paper 
Technology Foundation, Inc. 

Western Michigan University Research Foundation operates for the benefit of Western 
Michigan University to promote, encourage, and aid scientific investigation and research as 
well as commercialization endeavors. The University has paid certain expenses of Western 
Michigan University Research Foundation. 
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Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

WMed operates and manages medical education and training programs. WMed’s clinics 
provide medical services to patients, a substantial portion of which are Medicaid and 
Medicare recipients.  

A complete copy of the audited financial statements of Western Michigan University 
Foundation, Paper Technology Foundation, Inc., Western Michigan University Research 
Foundation, and WMed is available at each respective organization’s offices. 
 

Cash and Investments - Cash and cash equivalents are defined as highly liquid investments 
with a maturity of three months or less when purchased. The University’s cash, comprised 
of working capital and permanent-core assets, is principally invested in investment-grade 
securities that are readily convertible to cash. The cash is allocated to securities that meet 
short-, intermediate-, and long-term investment objectives. Investments are reported at fair 
value, based on quoted market prices, with changes in fair value reported as investment 
income in the statement of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position.  Included in long 
term investments at June 30, 2014 are approximately $56 million of unspent bond proceeds. 

Inventories - Inventories consist primarily of supplies, food, and pharmaceuticals, and are 
stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined by the retail method. 

Operating and Nonoperating Revenue - Operating activities as reported on the statement 
of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position are those activities that generally result 
from exchange transactions, such as payments received for providing services and 
payments made for services or goods received. Nearly all of the University’s expenses are 
from exchange transactions. Certain significant revenue streams relied upon for operations 
are recorded as nonoperating revenue, as defined by GASB Statement  
No. 34, including state appropriations, federal Pell grant revenue, gifts, and investment 
income. Restricted and unrestricted resources are spent and tracked at the discretion of the 
recipient University department within the guidelines of donor restrictions, if any. 
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Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

WMed operates and manages medical education and training programs. WMed’s clinics 
provide medical services to patients, a substantial portion of which are Medicaid and 
Medicare recipients.  

A complete copy of the audited financial statements of Western Michigan University 
Foundation, Paper Technology Foundation, Inc., Western Michigan University Research 
Foundation, and WMed is available at each respective organization’s offices. 
 

Cash and Investments - Cash and cash equivalents are defined as highly liquid investments 
with a maturity of three months or less when purchased. The University’s cash, comprised 
of working capital and permanent-core assets, is principally invested in investment-grade 
securities that are readily convertible to cash. The cash is allocated to securities that meet 
short-, intermediate-, and long-term investment objectives. Investments are reported at fair 
value, based on quoted market prices, with changes in fair value reported as investment 
income in the statement of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position.  Included in long 
term investments at June 30, 2014 are approximately $56 million of unspent bond proceeds. 

Inventories - Inventories consist primarily of supplies, food, and pharmaceuticals, and are 
stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined by the retail method. 

Operating and Nonoperating Revenue - Operating activities as reported on the statement 
of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position are those activities that generally result 
from exchange transactions, such as payments received for providing services and 
payments made for services or goods received. Nearly all of the University’s expenses are 
from exchange transactions. Certain significant revenue streams relied upon for operations 
are recorded as nonoperating revenue, as defined by GASB Statement  
No. 34, including state appropriations, federal Pell grant revenue, gifts, and investment 
income. Restricted and unrestricted resources are spent and tracked at the discretion of the 
recipient University department within the guidelines of donor restrictions, if any. 
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Note 1 - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Capital Assets - Capital assets are stated at cost if purchased or at appraised value at the 
date of the gift for donated property. Certain net assets have been designated to provide for 
future capital improvements for Extended University Programs and for significant repair and 
maintenance costs to residence facilities. Physical properties, with the exception of land, 
are depreciated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful service lives of the 
respective assets. Estimated service lives are as follows: 

Land improvements 20 years
Buildings 50 years
Equipment and software 3-15 years
Library holdings 10 years
 
Bond Issuance Costs - Bond issuance costs are expensed in the period incurred while 
prepaid insurance costs related to bond issuance are amortized over the life of the bonds 
using the straight-line method. Gains and losses resulting from refunding bonds are booked 
as deferred outflows and inflows and recognized as a component of interest expense over 
the shorter of the remaining term of the old debt or the term of the new debt. 
 

Note 2 - Cash and Investments 

The University uses the “pooled cash” method of accounting for substantially all of its cash 
and investments. In order to maximize earnings, the cash and certain investments of 
Western Michigan University Foundation, Western Michigan University Research 
Foundation, and Paper Technology Foundation, Inc. are pooled with those of the University. 
External investment managers are provided with an investment policy statement, as set 
forth by the board of trustees. 

As of June 30, 2014, the University had the following investments and maturities: 

Fair Less Than More Than
Market Value One Year 1-5 Years 6-10 Years 10 Years

Money market funds 100,545,329$        100,545,329$     -   $                  -   $                  -   $                  
Intermediate-term mutual funds 52,266,765            -                       45,956,170         6,310,595          -                       
Equity index mutual funds 4,884,823             -                       -                       -                       4,884,823          
Equity funds 65,053,547            -                       -                       -                       65,053,547         
Bond funds 14,142,616            -                       11,408,426         2,734,190          -                       
Land and land contracts 93,500                  -                       -                       -                       93,500               
Bank loans 11,375,783            11,375,783         
Real Estate Investment Trust Fund 12,589,984            -                       -                       -                       12,589,984         

Total 260,952,347$        100,545,329$     57,364,596$       9,044,785$         93,997,637$       
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Note 2 - Cash and Investments (Continued) 

As of June 30, 2013, the University had the following investments and maturities: 

Fair Less Than More Than
Market Value One Year 1-5 Years 6-10 Years 10 Years

Money market funds 36,845,879$          36,845,879$       -   $                  -   $                  -   $                  
Intermediate-term mutual funds 60,278,621            -                       50,199,024         10,079,597         -                       
Equity index mutual funds 4,444,686             -                       -                       -                       4,444,686          
Equity funds 29,934,792            -                       -                       -                       29,934,792         
Bond funds 13,190,180            -                       10,621,302         2,568,878          -                       
Land and land contracts 93,500                  -                       -                       -                       93,500               
Bank loans 10,947,180            -                       -                       -                       10,947,180         
Real Estate Investment Trust Fund 11,437,201            -                       -                       -                       11,437,201         

Total 167,172,039$        36,845,879$       60,820,326$       12,648,475$       56,857,359$       

 
Interest Rate Risk - As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from 
rising interest rates, the University’s operating investment policy provides for a diversified 
portfolio comprised of short-, intermediate-, and long-term investments. The investment 
policy does not specifically limit or restrict asset allocation except for the long-term 
investment pool. The asset allocation, as a percentage of the total market value of the long-
term investment pool, is targeted as follows: 

Asset Category Target Range

U.S. equities 28.6% 20-40%
International equities 28.6% 20-40%
Fixed income 28.6% 20-40%
Real estate (REITs) 14.2% 10-20%
 
The University is also exposed to risk indirectly since its mutual fund investees hold 
investments such as futures, options, and collateralized mortgage obligations (generally 
referred to as “derivatives”). 

The annuity and life income funds are invested on the policy that they are held to maturity; 
therefore, the interest rate risk is not considered in its decisions. Effective July 25, 2012, the 
board of trustees approved a revised investment policy to create a permanent core asset 
allocation committed to both equity and fixed-income securities. 

Credit Risk - For investments in nonmutual and nonpooled funds, no more than 10 percent 
of the portfolio, at cost, can be invested in any single issue, except the investments in U.S. 
government securities. The weighted average credit quality is to be no less than “AAA” (or 
its equivalent rating by two national rating agencies) for the short-term investment pool 
accounts and “A” for the intermediate-term investment pool accounts.  
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Note 2 - Cash and Investments (Continued) 

In addition, the minimum acceptable credit quality at the time of purchase for individual 
securities shall be “A” for the short-term pool accounts and “BBB” for the intermediate-
term investment pool accounts. 

At June 30, 2014 and 2013, the University’s debt instruments (subject to fluctuations in 
interest rates) and related ratings consisted of the following: 

2014 NRSRO 2013 NRSRO

 Market Value  Rating  Market Value  Rating 

Bond mutual funds:
Western Asset Intermediate Bond Portfolio 13,281,799$         AA- 10,783,601$         AA
PIMCO Moderate Duration Fund 17,832,411          A+ 16,176,980 AA-
Barclays TIPs Bond Fund 6,310,595            AAA 10,079,597 AAA
SSGA Charitable Bond Fund 295,037               AA 291,012 AA2
SSGA High Yield Bond Fund 79,514              B 72,779 B

Vanguard Total Bond Fund 1,946,323            AA 1,834,047 AA
TIPs Bond Fund 413,316               AAA 371,040 AAA
JPMorgan Short Duration Bond Fund 8,105,712            AA+ 6,036,319 AAA
FPA New Income Fund 11,313,230          AA 11,149,768 AA
Vanguard Short-Term Bond EFT 8,169,940            AA+ 6,052,356 AAA
Templeton Global Bond Fund 11,408,426        A- 10,621,302         BBB

Total 79,156,303$         73,468,801$          

At June 30, 2014 and 2013, Western Michigan University Foundation, Paper Technology 
Foundation, Inc., and Western Michigan University Research Foundation’s debt instruments 
(subject to fluctuations in interest rates) and related ratings consisted of the following: 

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Intermediate-term mutual funds 10,584,947$        15,048,532$        A+ 304,099$           267,861$          A+ 1,857,876$        1,850,884$         A+

Western Michigan University

Foundation

Paper Technology

Foundation, Inc.

Western Michigan University

Research Foundation

 

The nationally recognized statistical rating organization (NRSRO) utilized was primarily 
Moody’s Investors Services. The corporate bonds NRSRO rating is based on a weighted 
average of the individual investment ratings. 

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013



Financial Report   43

Western Michigan UniversityWestern Michigan University 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2014 and 2013 

 25  

 

Note 2 - Cash and Investments (Continued) 

Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the 
bank or counterparty, the University will not be able to recover the value of its deposits or 
investments that are in the possession of an outside party. The University’s cash investment 
policy does not limit the value of deposits or investments that may be held by an outside 
party. Investments in external investment pools and in open-ended mutual funds are not 
exposed to custodial credit risk because their existence is not evidenced by securities that 
exist in physical or book-entry form. At June 30, 2014 and 2013, the carrying amount of the 
University’s deposits was $49,332,622 and $43,755,020, respectively. These amounts include 
Foundation balances of $2,653,105 and $3,667,975, respectively. Of that amount, $3,939,938 
and $1,064,212 was insured as of June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The remaining 
$45,392,684 and $42,690,808 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, was uninsured and 
uncollateralized. The University does not require deposits to be insured or collateralized. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk - Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to 
the magnitude of investment in a single issuer. The University’s cash investment policy 
provides that investment pool direct placements are to be sufficiently diversified and 
provides that no more than 10 percent of its assets can be in any particular issue. The 
foregoing restrictions do not apply to securities that are issued or fully guaranteed by the 
United States government. The University did not have investments in any single issuer that 
equaled 5 percent or more in 2014 or 2013. 

Foreign Currency Risk - Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates 
will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. At June 30, 2014 and 2013, the University 
had approximately $57,000,000 and $43,800,000, respectively, invested in mutual funds that 
have funds invested in various countries throughout the world and therefore, expose the 
University to foreign currency risk indirectly. The University did not have any direct 
investments or deposits denominated in foreign currencies at June 30, 2014 and 2013. These 
amounts include Foundation balances of $3,000,000 and $3,300,000, respectively.

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013



44   Financial Report

Western Michigan University

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

Western Michigan University 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2014 and 2013 

 26  

Note 2 - Cash and Investments (Continued) 

Investments at Western Michigan University Foundation, Paper Technology Foundation, 
Inc., and Western Michigan University Research Foundation are as follows: 

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Corporate stocks 1,056,014$          955,225$            25,096$          24,152$         -   $                -   $                
Alternative investments 104,787,477        96,841,716          2,238,794        2,339,618       4,099,452         4,085,485         
Real estate 9,357,783           8,722,915           222,963          37,762           -                     -                     
Mutual funds:
   Equity 142,440,824        110,162,562        2,986,777        2,789,199       -                     -                     
   Fixed income 49,453,244          30,737,441          538,583          408,300         -                     -                     

           Total 307,095,342$      247,419,859$      6,012,213$      5,599,031$     4,099,452$       4,085,485$       

Western Michigan University 

Foundation

Paper Technology  

Foundation, Inc.

Western Michigan University 

Research Foundation

 

Net gains from security transactions for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 are as 
follows for each foundation: 

2014 2013 2014 2013

Unrealized appreciation 17,362,303$         12,405,479$         414,985$               300,129$              
Realized gains 11,137,062            9,560,501              263,778                 244,998                 

Total 28,499,365$          21,965,980$          678,763$               545,127$               

Paper Technology
Foundation, Inc.

Western Michigan
University Foundation

 
Trustee and brokerage fees associated with the maintenance of the endowment securities 
portfolio were $3,960,625 and $3,255,265, and $69,900 and $70,903 for the years ended June 
30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, for Western Michigan University Foundation and Paper 
Technology Foundation, Inc., respectively. For recording purposes, these fees have been 
netted with investment income. Western Michigan University Foundation and Paper 
Technology Foundation, Inc. investments are stated at fair value based upon quoted market 
prices or are based on information provided by the fund managers or the general partners of 
the investment funds. 
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Note 3 - Receivables 

As of June 30, 2014 and 2013, accounts receivable consisted of the following: 

 2014 2013

Appropriations from the State of Michigan for operations 17,697,094$      17,361,368$       
Sponsored research grants receivable 3,403,583          2,412,300           
Student accounts receivable 12,141,358        11,354,302          
Capital appropriations from the State of Michigan 133,627             1,180,378           
Other 7,536,708          8,479,565           

Total 40,912,370          40,787,913          

 Less allowances for doubtful accounts  (4,752,967)           (4,453,106)           

Net accounts receivable 36,159,403$       36,334,807$        

As of June 30, 2014 and 2013, student loans receivable consisted of the following: 

2014 2013

Student loans receivable 9,049,786$         9,227,734$         
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (89,628)              (61,764)               

Net student loans receivable 8,960,158$          9,165,970$           
 
As of June 30, 2014 and 2013, pledges receivable at the component units consisted of the 
following: 

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Pledges expected to be 
collected within 1 year 29,453,330$          28,936,979$          9,547$                 650$                    -   $                         -   $                          325,000$              347,400$             

Pledges expected to be 
collected in 1-5 years 58,346,718            64,829,534            71,500                 2,100                   -                              -                               -                              325,000               

Total 87,800,048            93,766,513            81,047                 2,750                   -                              -                               325,000                672,400               

Less:
Allowance for uncollectible 

contributions (390,566)                 (421,149)                 (4,214)                  (124)                     -                              -                               -                              -                             
Present value discount (1,606,031)             (156,504)                 (2,105)                  (11)                        -                              -                               -                              -                             

Net pledges receivable 85,803,451$          93,188,860$          74,728$              2,615$                 -   $                         -   $                          325,000$              672,400$             

Western Michigan University
School of Medicine

Western Michigan Paper Technology Western Michigan
University Foundation Foundation, Inc. Foundation

 



46   Financial Report

Western Michigan University

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

Western Michigan University 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2014 and 2013 

 28  

Note 3 - Receivables (Continued) 

Pledges receivable are presented net of a discount for the value of future cash flows and an 
allowance for uncollectible contributions. The discount to present value was calculated 
using the yield on a three-year Treasury bill, equal to .88 percent and .14 percent as of  June 
30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The allowance for uncollectible contributions is a general 
valuation allowance of 4.5 percent established based on historical contribution collection 
history. Estate gifts receivable at Western Michigan University Foundation of approximately 
$1,289,000 and $4,408,000 at June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, included in the total 
pledges receivable, have no allowance for uncollectible contributions. Pledges deemed 
uncollectible are charged against the allowance for uncollectible contributions in the period 
in which the determination is made. 

Note 4 - Capital Lease Receivable 

Western Michigan University leases a building located at 300 Portage Street in downtown 
Kalamazoo to the Western Michigan University School of Medicine (WMed). The lease is 
classified as a single-unit direct financing lease and specifies that WMed will pay the 
University lease rental payments which at a minimum will be sufficient to pay the principal 
and interest on the lease rental revenue bonds issued by the University to fund the 
renovation cost of the building. The lease rental revenue bonds are payable over five years 
with a 30-year amortization and a balloon payment at the end of five years. The lease calls 
for an initial 50-year term with an automatic five-year renewal option. The lease was 
capitalized using a 1.9 percent capitalization rate.  As a result of the transaction, the 
University recorded a loss of approximately $15.3 million related to the disposal of a portion 
of the building that was previously donated during 2012 and accordingly recorded $20.1 
million in gift income in 2012.  

 
The amounts receivable under the lease are as follows: 

  

Principal Interest Total

2015 -   $                          1,265,214$            1,265,214$           
2016 1,540,347               1,290,539               2,830,886             
2017 1,549,740               1,261,153               2,810,893             
2018 1,578,271               1,231,347               2,809,618             
2019 64,281,642            407,123                  64,688,765           

Total 68,950,000$          5,455,376$            74,405,376$         

Capital Lease Receivable
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Note 5 - Capital Assets 

The following table presents the changes in the various fixed asset class categories for the 
year ended June 30, 2014: 

2014

Beginning 

Balance Additions

Deletions/

Transfers Ending Balance

Capital assets:
Land 16,772,401$         19,174$               -   $                    16,791,575$         
Construction in progress 38,705,819        72,177,999        87,707,686         23,176,132         

Total nondepreciable property 55,478,220          72,197,173          87,707,686          39,967,707                                
Land improvements 69,745,348          3,448,911            -                        73,194,259          
Buildings 900,219,220         7,810,884            4,692,768            903,337,336         
Buildings under capitalized lease 10,578,574          10,217,817          -                        20,796,391          
Equipment, software, and other 66,977,890          4,901,118            2,865,372            69,013,636          
Library holdings 86,738,762        1,746,498          -                       88,485,260         

Total depreciable property 1,134,259,794      28,125,228          7,558,140            1,154,826,882      

Total capital assets 1,189,738,014      100,322,401         95,265,826          1,194,794,589      

Less accumulated depreciation:
Land improvements 33,064,971          2,726,759            -                        35,791,730          
Buildings 295,646,783         17,122,154          3,417,219            309,351,718         
Buildings under capitalized lease 2,563,549            228,415               -                        2,791,964            
Equipment, software, and other 53,985,177          4,606,600            2,843,043            55,748,734          
Library holdings 76,716,193        1,757,125          -                       78,473,318         

Total accumulated depreciation 461,976,673         26,441,053$         6,260,262$          482,157,464         

Capital assets - Net 727,761,341$       712,637,125$        
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Note 5 - Capital Assets (Continued) 

The following table presents the changes in the various fixed asset class categories for the 
year ended June 30, 2013: 

2013

Beginning 

Balance Additions

Deletions/

Transfers Ending Balance

Capital assets:
Land 16,601,768$         170,633$             -   $                    16,772,401$         
Construction in progress 71,037,373        52,911,075        85,242,629         38,705,819         

Total nondepreciable property 87,639,141          53,081,708          85,242,629          55,478,220                                
Land improvements 63,107,586          6,637,762            -                        69,745,348          
Buildings 838,660,997         68,686,653          7,128,430            900,219,220         
Buildings under capitalized lease 10,578,574          -                        -                        10,578,574          
Equipment, software, and other 66,350,297          3,954,203            3,326,610            66,977,890          
Library holdings 85,113,945        1,624,817          -                       86,738,762         

Total depreciable property 1,063,811,399      80,903,435          10,455,040          1,134,259,794      

Total capital assets 1,151,450,540      133,985,143         95,697,669          1,189,738,014      

Less accumulated depreciation:
Land improvements 30,171,024          2,893,947            -                        33,064,971          
Buildings 284,190,127         16,773,242          5,316,586            295,646,783         
Buildings under capitalized lease 2,352,164            211,385               -                        2,563,549            
Equipment, software, and other 52,432,320          4,748,127            3,195,270            53,985,177          
Library holdings 74,588,754        2,127,439          -                       76,716,193         

Total accumulated depreciation 443,734,389         26,754,140$         8,511,856$          461,976,673         

Capital assets - Net 707,716,151$       727,761,341$        
 

The estimated cost to complete major construction projects in progress and scheduled to 
begin is approximately $116 million as of June 30, 2014. The University has committed to a 
new dining facility to open in the Fall of 2016 at a cost of $34.5 million.  A freshmen residence 
hall is expected to be completed in 2015 at a cost of $48 million, and East Campus is being 
redeveloped to include an alumni center at a total cost of $24.6 million. These projects are 
funded from bond proceeds and internally designated sources. 
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Note 6 - Long-term Obligations 

Long-term obligation activity for the year ended June 30, 2014 is as follows:  
 

2014 Beginning Balance Additions Reductions Ending Balance Current Portion

General Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series
2013, with interest ranging from 3.00% to 5.25%,
maturing November 15, 2043 -$                       93,345,000$              -$                      93,345,000$              2,930,000$                

2013 Lease Rental Revenue Bonds, with interest at 
one-month LIBOR plus 115 basis points, an 
effective rate of 1.30% at June 30, 2014, maturing 
November 15, 2018 -                         47,469,696                -                        47,469,696                -                        

General Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series
2011, with interest ranging from 3.00% to 5.25%,
maturing November 15, 2040 64,670,000                 -                                 2,145,000                  62,525,000                2,225,000                  

General Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2009,
with interest ranging from 4.25% to 5.25%,
maturing November 15, 2022 37,680,000                 -                                 2,975,000                  34,705,000                3,135,000                  

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2008, with interest
ranging from 3.63% to 5.00%, maturing November
15, 2032 109,845,000               -                                 4,105,000                  105,740,000              3,860,000                  

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2005, with interest
ranging from 3.38% to 5.00%, maturing November
15, 2035 32,450,000                 -                                 835,000                     31,615,000                865,000                     

General Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series
2003, with interest ranging from 4.25% to 5.00%,
maturing November 15, 2023 29,500,000                 -                                 29,500,000                -                                 -                                 

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2002B, with
interest ranging from 4.41% to 5.42%, maturing
November 15, 2032 15,715,000                 -                                 470,000                     15,245,000                490,000                     

Capital lease payable for Grand Rapids building,
with an effective rate of 4.59% and monthly
payments ranging from $69,016 to $95,255 for 15
years with two five-year renewal options and a
buy-out purchase option 2,940,934                   10,217,817                1,008,854                  12,149,897                1,078,079                  

Total bonds, notes, and leases payable 292,800,934               151,032,513              41,038,854                402,794,593              14,583,079                

Annuities payable 917,060                    -                               39,262                     877,798                     -                               

Other postemployment benefits (Note 9) 164,988,532             7,735,299                -                               172,723,831              5,278,000                

Accrued compensated absences 12,566,318                 41,159                       262,253                     12,345,224                -                                 

Total long-term obligations 471,272,844$             158,808,971$            41,340,369$              588,741,446$            19,861,079$              

Notes and Leases Payable

Bonds Payable

Other Long-term Obligations
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Note 6 - Long-term Obligations (Continued) 

Long-term obligation activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 is as follows:  

The bonds and notes payable are generally callable by the University. The principal and 
interest amounts are payable as follows: 
 

Principal Interest Total
 Obligations 

Under Capital 

2015 13,505,000$          14,287,966$          27,792,966$         1,143,064$           
2016 15,765,000            16,165,784            31,930,784           1,076,110             
2017 17,025,000            16,637,592            33,662,592           828,189                
2018 17,895,000            15,861,014            33,756,014           844,753                
2019 60,159,696            14,311,883            74,471,579           861,648                

2020-2024 83,860,000            55,718,305            139,578,305         4,573,732             
2025-2029 64,255,000            38,456,764            102,711,764         5,049,770             
2030-2034 58,170,000            21,766,326            79,936,326           1,886,857             
2035-2039 33,460,000            11,019,383            44,479,383           -                              
2040-2044 26,550,000            3,083,025               29,633,025           -                              

Total 390,644,696$        207,308,042$        597,952,738$      16,264,123
     

Less amount representing 
     interest (4,114,226)            

Present value of net 
     minimum lease payments 12,149,897$        

Bonds and Notes Payable

 
 
Interest expense paid by the University on all indebtedness was $16,471,850 and $14,307,708 
for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. This includes construction period 
interest, which is capitalized as part of the cost of the assets constructed of $1,778,121 and 
$544,018 for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

Bond Defeasance - In October 2013, the University issued $93,345,000 of General Revenue 
and Refunding Bonds, Series 2013 with an average interest rate of 4.93 percent, a portion of 
which was used to advance refund $26,975,000 outstanding General Revenue and Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2003 with an average interest rate of 4.86 percent.  The net proceeds of 
$27,759,908 were used to pay issuance costs and $27,629,088 was deposited with the trustee 
to pay principal and interest on the Series 2003 bonds when called for redemption on 
November 15, 2013.  The advance refunding resulted in an economic gain of $2,469,846 
because total debt service payments decreased by $2,967,775. 

 

2013 Beginning Balance Additions Reductions Ending Balance Current Portion

General Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2011, with
interest ranging from 3.00% to 5.25%, maturing November
15, 2040 66,750,000$               -   $                            2,080,000$                64,670,000$              2,145,000$                

General Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2009, with
interest ranging from 4.25% to 5.25%, maturing November
15, 2022 40,510,000                 -                                  2,830,000                  37,680,000                2,975,000                  

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2008, with interest ranging
from 3.50% to 5.00%, maturing November 15, 2032 113,270,000               -                                  3,425,000                  109,845,000              4,105,000                  

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2005, with interest ranging
from 3.25% to 5.00%, maturing November 15, 2035 33,260,000                 -                                  810,000                     32,450,000                835,000                     

General Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 2003, with
interest ranging from 4.25% to 5.00%, maturing November
15, 2023 31,925,000                 -                                  2,425,000                  29,500,000                2,525,000                  

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2002B, with interest
ranging from 4.41% to 5.42%, maturing November 15,
2032 16,160,000                 -                                  445,000                     15,715,000                470,000                     

Capital lease payable for Grand Rapids building, with an
effective rate of 4.59% and monthly payments ranging
from $77,754 to $96,677 for 15 years with two five-year
renewal options and a buy-out purchase option 3,884,031                   -                                  943,097                     2,940,934                  1,008,854                  

Total bonds, notes, and leases payable 305,759,031               -                                  12,958,097                292,800,934              14,063,854                

Annuities payable 955,096                      -                                  38,036                       917,060                     -                                  
Other postemployment benefits (Note 9) 157,103,744               7,884,788                  -                                  164,988,532              5,041,990                  
Accrued compensated absences 14,016,596                 3,050                         1,453,328                  12,566,318                -                                  

Total long-term obligations 477,834,467$             7,887,838$                14,449,461$              471,272,844$            19,105,844$              

Bonds Payable

Notes and Leases Payable

Other Long-term Obligations
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Note 6 - Long-term Obligations (Continued) 

Long-term obligation activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 is as follows:  

The bonds and notes payable are generally callable by the University. The principal and 
interest amounts are payable as follows: 
 

Principal Interest Total
 Obligations 

Under Capital 

2015 13,505,000$          14,287,966$          27,792,966$         1,143,064$           
2016 15,765,000            16,165,784            31,930,784           1,076,110             
2017 17,025,000            16,637,592            33,662,592           828,189                
2018 17,895,000            15,861,014            33,756,014           844,753                
2019 60,159,696            14,311,883            74,471,579           861,648                

2020-2024 83,860,000            55,718,305            139,578,305         4,573,732             
2025-2029 64,255,000            38,456,764            102,711,764         5,049,770             
2030-2034 58,170,000            21,766,326            79,936,326           1,886,857             
2035-2039 33,460,000            11,019,383            44,479,383           -                              
2040-2044 26,550,000            3,083,025               29,633,025           -                              

Total 390,644,696$        207,308,042$        597,952,738$      16,264,123
     

Less amount representing 
     interest (4,114,226)            

Present value of net 
     minimum lease payments 12,149,897$        

Bonds and Notes Payable

 
 
Interest expense paid by the University on all indebtedness was $16,471,850 and $14,307,708 
for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. This includes construction period 
interest, which is capitalized as part of the cost of the assets constructed of $1,778,121 and 
$544,018 for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

Bond Defeasance - In October 2013, the University issued $93,345,000 of General Revenue 
and Refunding Bonds, Series 2013 with an average interest rate of 4.93 percent, a portion of 
which was used to advance refund $26,975,000 outstanding General Revenue and Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2003 with an average interest rate of 4.86 percent.  The net proceeds of 
$27,759,908 were used to pay issuance costs and $27,629,088 was deposited with the trustee 
to pay principal and interest on the Series 2003 bonds when called for redemption on 
November 15, 2013.  The advance refunding resulted in an economic gain of $2,469,846 
because total debt service payments decreased by $2,967,775. 
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Note 6 - Long-term Obligations (Continued) 

Long-term obligation activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 is as follows:  

The bonds and notes payable are generally callable by the University. The principal and 
interest amounts are payable as follows: 
 

Principal Interest Total
 Obligations 

Under Capital 

2015 13,505,000$          14,287,966$          27,792,966$         1,143,064$           
2016 15,765,000            16,165,784            31,930,784           1,076,110             
2017 17,025,000            16,637,592            33,662,592           828,189                
2018 17,895,000            15,861,014            33,756,014           844,753                
2019 60,159,696            14,311,883            74,471,579           861,648                

2020-2024 83,860,000            55,718,305            139,578,305         4,573,732             
2025-2029 64,255,000            38,456,764            102,711,764         5,049,770             
2030-2034 58,170,000            21,766,326            79,936,326           1,886,857             
2035-2039 33,460,000            11,019,383            44,479,383           -                              
2040-2044 26,550,000            3,083,025               29,633,025           -                              

Total 390,644,696$        207,308,042$        597,952,738$      16,264,123
     

Less amount representing 
     interest (4,114,226)            

Present value of net 
     minimum lease payments 12,149,897$        

Bonds and Notes Payable

 
 
Interest expense paid by the University on all indebtedness was $16,471,850 and $14,307,708 
for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. This includes construction period 
interest, which is capitalized as part of the cost of the assets constructed of $1,778,121 and 
$544,018 for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

Bond Defeasance - In October 2013, the University issued $93,345,000 of General Revenue 
and Refunding Bonds, Series 2013 with an average interest rate of 4.93 percent, a portion of 
which was used to advance refund $26,975,000 outstanding General Revenue and Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2003 with an average interest rate of 4.86 percent.  The net proceeds of 
$27,759,908 were used to pay issuance costs and $27,629,088 was deposited with the trustee 
to pay principal and interest on the Series 2003 bonds when called for redemption on 
November 15, 2013.  The advance refunding resulted in an economic gain of $2,469,846 
because total debt service payments decreased by $2,967,775. 
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Note 7 - Line of Credit 

The University obtained a $30 million secured line of credit on March 15, 2013 to provide 
bridge financing for project costs related to the renovation of the building located at 300 
Portage Street. The balance due on this line was $6.7 million at June 30, 2013. During fiscal 
year 2014, an additional $7.2 million was drawn against the line of credit. The line expired on 
March 14, 2014 and the balance of $13.9 million was repaid in full prior to June 30, 2014. 

Note 8 - Insurance  

The University is a participant in the Michigan Universities Self-Insurance Corporation 
(MUSIC). This organization provides insurance coverage for errors and omissions liability, 
comprehensive general liability, and all risk property insurance. In fiscal year 2014, there are 
11 universities that participate in MUSIC. Each participating university is responsible for a 
first tier of losses up to a level that has been actuarially determined. MUSIC is financially 
responsible for a second tier of losses. For comprehensive general liability errors and 
omissions and all risk property insurance, MUSIC has purchased excess insurance 
coverage with commercial insurance carriers to cover a third tier of losses. However, in the 
event the insurance reserves established by MUSIC are insufficient to meet its second tier 
obligations, each of the participating universities share this obligation by agreements with 
MUSIC. 

The maximum possible assessment for the University for the year ended June 30, 2014 is 
$1.5 million. The University has not been subjected to additional assessments since the 
formation of MUSIC in 1987. Historically, the obligations and expenses (claims) have been 
less than the combined periodic payments and accumulated operational reserves for any 
given year. 

The University is essentially self-insured for hospital/medical, life, and workers’ 
compensation coverage. Stop-loss coverage has been purchased by the University for 
hospital/medical and workers’ compensation. The University is self-insured for long-term 
disability claims of less than six months in duration and for any claims incurred prior to 
March 5, 2012 that are still payable. As of March 5, 2012, the University purchased insurance 
for claims lasting six months or more. Liabilities associated with expected unpaid claims 
have also been determined and are accrued on the balance sheet.  
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Note 8 - Insurance (Continued) 

Claims activity for the year ended June 30, 2014 is as follows:  

Liability - 
Beginning of 

Year

Claims Incurred, 
Including 

Changes in 
Estimates Claim Payments

Liability - 
End of Year

Hospital/Medical claims 2,250,000$            34,691,169$          (34,541,169)$         2,400,000$            
Workers' compensation claims 1,372,398              813,794                 (813,794)                1,372,398              
Long-term disability claims 2,374,529              352,051                 (700,820)                2,025,760              
General liability claims 559,832                 423,492                 (385,926)                597,398                 

6,556,759$            36,280,506$          (36,441,709)$         6,395,556$             
 

Claims activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 is as follows:  

Liability - 
Beginning of 

Year

Claims Incurred, 
Including 

Changes in Claim Payments
Liability - 

End of Year

Hospital/Medical claims 2,230,000$            33,629,574$          (33,609,574)$         2,250,000$            
Workers' compensation claims 1,153,276              1,179,116              (959,994)                1,372,398              

Long-term disability claims 3,080,617              (247,752)                (458,336)                2,374,529              
General liability claims 429,190                 398,506                 (267,864)                559,832                 

6,893,083$            34,959,444$          (35,295,768)$         6,556,759$            

 

Note 9 - Retirement Plans 

The University provides noncontributory retirement plans for all qualified employees through 
plans offered by the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System (MPSERS) or the 
Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association and College Retirement Equities Fund (TIAA-
CREF). 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Plan Description - The MPSERS plan is a statewide, cost-sharing, multiple-employer 
defined benefit public employee retirement system governed by the State of Michigan that 
covers some employees of the University. The system provides retirement, survivor, and 
disability benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. The Michigan Public School 
Employees Retirement System issues a publicly available financial report that includes 
financial statements and required supplemental information for the system. That report may 
be obtained by writing to the system at P.O. Box 30171, Lansing, MI  48909-7671. 
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Note 9 - Retirement Plans (Continued)  

Funding Policy - State statute requires the University to contribute the full actuarially 
determined amount to fund pension benefits. The pension benefit rate totaled 3.21 percent 
for the period from October 1, 2011 through September 30, 2013, and 3.00 percent from 
October 1, 2013 through June 30, 2014, of the covered payroll to the plan. The University’s 
contribution to the MPSERS plan for the year ended June 30, 2014 was approximately 
$6,800,000. Contributions were $6,400,000 for the year ended June 30, 2013 and $5,800,000 for 
the year ended June 30, 2012. 

Postemployment Benefits - Under the MPSERS act, all retirees participating in the 
MPSERS pension plan have the option of continuing health, dental, and vision coverages. 
Retirees having these coverages contribute an amount equivalent to the monthly cost for 
Part B Medicare and 10 percent of the monthly premium amount for the health, dental, and 
vision coverages. The MPSERS board of trustees annually sets the employer contribution 
rate to fund the benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis. Participating employers are required to 
contribute at that rate. The employer contribution rate was 8.5 percent of covered payroll for 
the period from July 1, 2012 through September 30, 2012. The employer contribution rate 
ranged from 8.18 percent to 9.11 of covered payroll for the period from October 1, 2012 
through September 30, 2013 and 5.52 to 6.45 percent of covered payroll for the period from 
October 1, 2013 through June 30, 2014, dependent upon the employee’s date of hire and plan 
election as noted above. Effective February 1, 2013, members can choose to contribute 3 
percent of their covered payroll to the Retiree Healthcare Fund and keep this premium 
subsidy benefit, or they can elect not to pay the 3 percent contribution and instead choose 
the Personal Healthcare Fund, which can be used to pay healthcare expenses in retirement. 
Members electing the Personal Healthcare Fund will be automatically enrolled in a 2 
percent employee contribution into their 457 account as of their transition date and create a 
2 percent employer match into the employee’s 401(k) account. The University’s required 
contributions for postemployment healthcare benefits, which are funded on a cash basis, 
were approximately $3,600,000, $4,200,000, and $4,700,000 for the years ended June 30, 2014, 
2013, and 2012, respectively. 
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Note 9 - Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Defined Contribution Plan  

The University offers all employees eligible for benefits the opportunity to participate in the 
TIAA-CREF plan. Funding for the plan consists of an employer contribution of 11 percent of 
covered compensation for employees hired before January 1, 2013. For participating 
employees hired on or after January 1, 2013, the University contributes 9 percent of covered 
compensation. The University contribution increases to 10 percent if the employee tax-
defers at least 1 percent but less than 2 percent and to 11 percent if the employee tax-defers 
2 percent or more. The University has no liability beyond its contribution. Benefits vest 
immediately for eligible salaried employees and vest after a five-year period for eligible 
hourly nonexempt participants. Contributions for the years ended June 30, 2014, 2013, and 
2012 were approximately $19,600,000, $18,900,000, and $18,000,000, respectively. 

Other Postemployment Benefits 

Plan Description - The University provides retiree life insurance, health, and dental care 
benefits, including prescription drug coverage, to retired employees, their spouses, and 
dependent children. Benefits are provided to all retired faculty, academic, and support staff 
that retired at the age of 55 or older and had provided 10 years or more of service to the 
University for employees hired on or before September 1, 2010. Currently, the plan has 2,616 
active members, of which 1,283 are eligible to receive life insurance upon retirement. 
Employees who are professional and support staff hired after September 1, 2010 pay 100 
percent of the premium upon retirement and must be at the age of 60 or older and have 
provided 15 or more years of service to the University. Other employee groups’ agreements 
vary based on contracts.  

This is a single-employer defined benefit plan administered by the University. The benefits 
are provided under collective bargaining agreements. The plan does not issue a separate 
stand-alone financial statement. Administrative costs are paid by the plan through employer 
contributions (or by the employer if not funded through the plan). 

Funding Policy - Retirees or their surviving spouses are required to make annual 
contributions of between $767 to $20,621, depending on their age and if their spouses or 
dependents are covered. The University has no obligation to make contributions in advance 
of when the insurance premiums are due for payment (in other words, this may be financed 
on a “pay-as-you-go” basis). The costs of administering the plan are borne by the 
University. 
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Note 9 - Retirement Plans (Continued)  

Funding Progress - For the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, the University has 
estimated the cost of providing retiree healthcare benefits through an actuarial valuation as 
of June 30, 2013. The valuation computes an annual required contribution, which represents 
a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each 
year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period not to exceed 30 years. 
This valuation’s computed contribution and actual funding are summarized as follows: 

2014 2013

Annual required contribution (recommended) 14,687,434$        14,771,713$        
Interest on the prior year's net OPEB obligation 10,724,255           10,086,060
Less adjustment to annual required contribution (12,634,400)         (11,930,985)         

Annual OPEB cost 12,777,289           12,926,788           

Amounts contributed:
Payments of current premiums (5,041,990)            (5,042,000)            
Advance funding -                              -                              

Increase in net OPEB obligation 7,735,299             7,884,788             

OPEB obligation - Beginning of year 164,988,532        157,103,744        

OPEB obligation - End of year 172,723,831$      164,988,532$      
 

The annual OPEB costs, the percentage contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB obligation 
for the current and two preceding years were as follows: 
 

2014 2013 2012

Annual OPEB costs 12,777,289$        12,926,788$        12,407,270$        

Percentage contributed 39%                       39%                       37%                       

Net OPEB obligation 172,723,831$      164,988,532$      157,103,744$      

Fiscal Year Ended June 30
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Note 9 - Retirement Plans (Continued)  

The funding progress of the plan as of the most recent valuation date is as follows: 

2014 2013 2012

Actuarial value of assets -$                        -$                        -$                        

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) (141,454,177)$        (132,887,433)$        (130,260,728)$        

Unfunded AAL (UAAL) (141,454,177)$        (132,887,433)$        (130,260,728)$        

Funded ratio 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Annual covered payroll 151,355,000$         151,355,000$         160,395,000$         

Ratio of UAAL to covered payroll 93.5% 87.8% 81.2%

Valuation as of June 30

 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions - Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve 
estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of the 
occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future 
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the 
funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject 
to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new 
estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress presents multiyear 
trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or 
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.  

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan 
(the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of 
benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of 
benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods 
and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-
term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent 
with the long-term perspective of the calculations.  

In the June 30, 2013 actuarial valuation, the unit credit method was used. The actuarial 
assumptions included a 6.42 percent investment rate of return (net of administrative 
expenses), which is a blended rate of the expected long-term investment returns on plan 
assets and on the employer’s own investments calculated based on the funded level of the 
plan at the valuation date and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 8.0 percent initially, 
reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 5.0 percent after eight years. Both rates 
included a 2.5 percent inflation assumption. The actuarial value of assets was determined 
using techniques that spread the effects of short-term volatility in the market value of 
investments over a seven-year period. 
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Note 9 - Retirement Plans (Continued)  

For the year ended June 30, 2014, the University used a 6.50 percent investment rate of 
return, which was consistent with the investment’s actual return, to determine the interest 
on the prior year’s net obligation. 

Note 10 - Commitments and Contingencies  

In the normal course of its activities, the University is a party in various legal and regulatory 
actions. The University believes that the outcome of these actions will not have a material 
effect on the financial statements. 

 
Note 11 - Cash Flow 

During the year ended June 30, 2014, the University had significant noncash investing and 
financing activities as a result of the capital lease receivable with WMed.  This resulted in an 
increase in capital lease receivable of $68,950,000, a reduction of capital assets of 
$53,603,963 and a loss recognized on the capital lease of $15,346,037.  The University also 
renewed its capital lease for the Grand Rapids building, resulting in an increase to capital 
assets and long-term obligations of $10,217,817. 

 
Note 12 - New Accounting Pronouncements 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued GASB Statement No. 68 
requiring governments providing defined benefit pensions to recognize their unfunded 
pension benefit obligation as a liability for the first time, and to more comprehensively and 
comparably measure the annual costs of pension benefits. The statement also enhances 
accountability and transparency through revised note disclosures and required 
supplemental information (RSI). The University is currently evaluating the impact this 
standard will have on the financial statements when adopted. The total pension liability will 
be computed on a different basis than the current actuarial accrued liability and the method 
of allocating this liability to each participating employer has not yet been determined, so the 
precise impact is not known. The provisions of this statement are effective for financial 
statements for the year ending June 30, 2015. 

Note 13 - Subsequent Event  

On July 10, 2014, the University issued $30,040,000 of General Revenue Refunding Bonds, 
Series 2014.  The bonds bear interest at rates varying from 3.00 percent to 5.00 percent 
through 2036.   

 

 



The new WMU Homer Stryker M.D. School of Medicine is at home on its W.E. Upjohn M.D. Campus.
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